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Architectural Classification 
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No style 
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(Describe the historic and current physical appearance and condition of the property. Describe 

contributing and noncontributing resources if applicable. Begin with a summary paragraph that 

briefly describes the general characteristics of the property, such as its location, type, style, 

method of construction, setting, size, and significant features. Indicate whether the property has 

historic integrity.) 

Summary Paragraph 

The Keweenaw Waterway Lower Entrance Light is located in Lake Superior at Torch 

Lake Township near the community of Jacobsville in Houghton County, Michigan. Established 

as a Federal aid to navigation in 1920, it marks the southern entrance to the Keweenaw 

Waterway. This property sits at the offshore end of a breakwater extending southward from 

shore at the mouth of the Portage River. It consists of one contributing property, a lighthouse 

that stands approximately 90 feet tall above the lake bed. The Keweenaw Waterway Lower 

Entrance Light includes a timber crib foundation and concrete pier that support a concrete one­

story machine room and a three-story octagonal steel tower topped with a circular lantern. The 

property's concrete portion is unpainted. The steel tower and lantern are painted white. The 

lantern's roof is painted red. The lantern gallery's guard rail is painted black with a red handrail. 

This lighthouse is owned by the U.S. Coast Guard and operated as an automated aid to 

navigation identified as number 14765 on the regional light list. It is equipped with a modern 

optic that signals a white flash every six seconds, along with a modern fog signal. The 

Keweenaw Waterway Lower Entrance Light remains much the same as when it was built. The 

limited modifications that have been made to it are largely superficial and reversible. This 

property is accessible from shore by way of the breakwater and is not open to public visitation. 
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The Keweenaw Waterway Lower Entrance Light was built in 1919 to 1920 and 

established as a Federal aid to navigation in 1920. Its setting is the western side of Lake 

Superior's Keweenaw Bay at the mouth of the Portage River. This lighthouse sits upon 

submerged land owned by the State of Michigan in water approximately 19 feet deep. It is 

located approximately 0.4 mile from shore at the southern end of the Portage River breakwater, a 

Federal navigation structure owned by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. The breakwater 

extends southward from the shoreline of Torch Lake Township near the community of 

Jacobsville in Houghton County, Michigan. It shelters the southern end of the Keweenaw 

Waterway, a navigable channel that extends across the southern Keweenaw Peninsula. 

The Keweenaw Waterway Lower Entrance Light is approximately 90 feet tall and 

includes a timber crib foundation, reinforced concrete pier, one-story reinforced concrete 

machine room, and a three story octagonal steel tower topped with a circular lantern. It is owned 

by the U.S. Coast Guard and identified as number 14765 on the Great Lakes regional light list. 

Foundation and Pier 

The structure's foundation is a rectangular crib approximately 32 feet wide by 50 feet 

long by 16 feet tall. It is built of heavy timbers and supported by piles cut off even with the lake 

bed. The crib is surrounded by a continuous sheet wall of wooden pilings that protect it from ice. 

Viewed in plan, this crib includes 18 rectangular interior compartments which are filled with 

rock. There is riprap along the crib's eastern, southern, and western sides. The northern side 

abuts the southern end of the Portage River entrance breakwater. 

The crib supports a concrete platform that measures approximately 32 feet by 50 feet and 

is eight feet thick. It includes open-air deck space approximately five feet above wa!er level at 

its northern and southern ends. These decks are each approximately 7.5 feet wide by 32 feet 

long. The northern deck is level with the deck of the adjoining breakwater. A steel ballard 

painted red is mounted at each of the platform's four corners. They are used to secure lines for a 

vessel moored alongside. 

A one-story rectangular reinforced concrete pier sits atop the concrete deck. It is 

approximately 32 feet wide by 35 feet long and 11 feet tall. The exterior wall on each side 

curves outward at the top, forming an overhang to deflect water thrown by wave action. The 

concrete pier is unpainted. 
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A steel ladder is affixed within a vertical recessed channel at the middle of the pier's 

western side wall. It provides access from water level to the pier's rooftop deck. There is a 

similar recessed channel at the pier's northern side next to the northwestern corner, facing the 

breakwater. This formerly held a built-in steel ladder that has been removed. A balustrade of 

steel pipe stanchions surrounds the perimeter of the pier's rooftop deck. This supports a two-tier 

steel pipe railing that is continuous except for narrow openings on its northern and western sides 

for the pier's wall ladders. This guardrail is painted black. 

There is a doorway fitted with a metal double door on the pier's northern side, facing the 

breakwater. It provides for access between the outside breakwater deck and the cellar room 

inside the pier. This doorway includes a steel two-leaf double door on the exterior, an interior 

vestibule approximately three feet wide, and an interior wooden two-leaf double door. The inner 

and outer double doors are both painted white. The lighthouse's cellar is a rectangular room 

inside the pier. It is approximately 19.5 feet wide by 25 feet long with a vaulted concrete ceiling 

approximately nine feet above the concrete floor. A recessed alcove in the cellar room's 

northern wall, west of the entrance doorway, holds electrical cables that pass through the pier's 

northern wall to the cellar interior. This lighthouse was formerly powered by an electrical cable 

extending from shore along the breakwater, but it has been disconnected. A steel ship's ladder 

stairway near the center of the cellar room rises to an opening in the ceiling. It provides access 

to the lighthouse's first story room, above. 

Superstructure 

The lighthouse's first story machine room sits atop the concrete pier. It is rectangular, 

built of reinforced concrete, and is approximately 25 feet wide by 25 feet long by 16 feet tall. It 

has a flat roof that contains embedded steel !-beams for supporting the light tower, above. Its 

exterior and interior concrete walls are unpainted. This part of the lighthouse formerly held 

machinery used in operating the lighthouse. Its exterior is decorated at each corner with a 

molded concrete, classical revival wrap-around pilaster. These are stylized Tuscan order 

columns that include a three-foot wide base, column, and capital. The faces of each molded base 

and capital project outward from the side of the structure. A molded concrete architrave and 

frieze surrounds the machine room's exterior above the pilasters. It is bounded above and below 

by horizontal lines of concrete molding. A projecting molded concrete classical revival cornice 

surrounds the upper edge of the first story's flat roof. Atop the roof, a 1.5-foot tall molded 

concrete parapet wall extends in a continuous rectangular run. It is set back approximately two 

feet from the roof's edge. This parapet wall is surmounted by a balustrade of short steel pipe 

stanchions supporting a single horizontal steel pipe rail. This guardrail's stanchions and railing 

are painted black. 
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The first story's northern, eastern, and southern sides are each pierced with two 

rectangular windows approximately five feet tall by three feet wide and four feet above the 

concrete pier's rooftop deck. The window spaces are fitted with steel framed two-over-two sash 

that hold glass lights reinforced with chicken wire. Each window is covered on the outside with 

a rectangular steel plate painted white. The first story's western wall is pierced with a 
rectangular doorway adjacent to the concrete pier's rooftop deck, directly in front of the wall 

ladder on the pier's western side. This doorway is fitted with a steel two-leaf double door that 

opens inward. It is painted white. The first story interior is approximately 22 feet long by 22 

feet wide. The concrete floor is painted red. A small room formed with wooden partitions is set 

against the northern wall. It has a metal and wood composite door. There is a steel cage 
enclosure painted red in the main room's northwestern corner next to the steel double door. It 

contains equipment for the lighthouse's electrical power system. In the center of the main room, 

a steel ship's ladder with a single handrail rises to an opening in the ceiling. It is painted green 

and provides access to the second story room which is inside the light tower, above. 

The structure's light tower is built of steel and is octagonal in plan. It is approximately 

30 feet tall and sits centered atop the first story's roof. The tower is three stories tall from its 
base to its flat roof. These are the lighthouse's second, third, and fourth stories. Its exterior is 

fabricated from steel plates fastened with rivets and is painted white. The interior frame is made 

with 6-inch slt:d I-bt:ams that rise vertically on the inner side of each ofthc octagonal tower's 

eight corners. Horizontal steel !-beams support its interior floors and roof. 

The tower's lower level is the lighthouse's second story. It is octagonal and 
approximately 16 feet in diameter. The second story's exterior includes a steel bracket on the 

tower's southeastern facet that supports the existing modern automated fog signal. The exterior 

is wider than the tower's upper stories and projects outward approximately one-foot on all sides. 

This forms a sill from which rises eight 12-inch wide stylized Tuscan order pilasters. These 

extend to the top of the tower along the eight exterior corners. Each pilaster is topped with a 
column capital below a stylized architrave and frieze surrounding the tower's upper level. 

Above this architrave and frieze, a cornice surrounds the lower edge of the tower's projecting flat 

roof. 

The second story room includes a rectangular doorway in its southern facet wall. This is 

fitted with an inward-opening steel door that provides access to the first story's flat roof. The 

second story's north and west facet walls are each pierced with a rectangular window opening 

fitted with a steel framed two-over-two-over-two window on the inner side and covered on the 

outside with a steel plate. The room's east facet wall has two brackets attached four feet above 

the floor. Two side-by-side circular openings above these brackets formerly held fog horns. 

They are presently covered with steel plates. A steel ship's ladder stairway rises up from the 

center of the second story room to an opening in the ceiling. It has a handrail on one side and is 

painted green. This stairway provides access to the third story. 
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The lighthouse's third story room is octagonal and 14 feet in diameter. It has four 

window openings, one each in the room's northern, eastern, southern, and western facets. Each 

is fitted with steel framed two-over-two-over-two sash and is covered on the outside with a steel 

plate. A steel ship's ladder stairway with a handrail on one side rises up from the center of the 

room to an opening in the ceiling. It is painted green and provides access to the fourth story. 

The fourth story room is octagonal and 14 feet in diameter. It has four window openings, 

one each in the northern, eastern, southern, and western facets. They are smaller than the third 

story windows. Each fourth story window is fitted with steel framed two-over-two sash and is 

covered on the .outside with a steel plate. A curving steel ladder with low handrails on both sides 

rises from the floor to an opening in the ceiling. It provides access through a trap door to the 

lantern room, above. 

The lighthouse's circular lantern sits centered atop the light tower's flat steel roof, which 

is the floor of the structure's octagonal open-air lantern gallery. The lantern's interior room is 

approximately seven feet in diameter and surrounded by a parapet wall 3.5 feet tall that is 

pierced by eight circular vents spaced at equal intervals. Three vents are missing their covers. 

The parapet wall is made with curved steel plates and supports steel muntins arranged in helical 

fashion. The lantern room floor and the parapet wall's inner and outer sides are painted white. 

The muntins are painted black and hold the lantern's glazing which consists of triangle-shaped 

and diamond-shaped panes. Some of the original glass lights have been replaced with lexan. 

The lantern's conical roof springs from a soffit above the glazing. The roof rises to a central 

circular vent opening at its apex. Outside, the roof is surmounted by a vent ball topped with a 

lightning rod and is painted red. 

An original brass pedestal affixed to the center of the lantern room floor supports a 

modern automated SABIK LED-350 two-tier lantern optic. It signals a white light that flashes 

every six seconds and is visible for nine miles in clear weather. Its focal plane is 68 feet above 

water level. 

A full-height doorway on the lantern's northern side provides access to the lantern 

gallery. It has a steel lower panel and a single-pane glass upper panel. The lantern gallery's 

deck is painted white. It is surrounded by a guardrail made with a complex decorative lattice of 

welded steel bars arranged in horizontal and diagonal patterns. This guardrail is painted black 

except for the handrail on top which is painted red. A steel pedestal attached to the outer edge of 

the gallery deck on the southern side supports a modern standby optic available for use if the 

lighthouse's main optic malfunctions. A solar array is also mounted on the gallery's southern 

side. It is used to recharge batteries that power the lighthouse's optic and fog signal. 
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Changes through time 

The Keweenaw Waterway Lower Entrance Light remains structurally the same today as 
when it was established as a Federal aid to navigation in 1920. Its exterior configuration is 
essentially unchanged and modifications to its interior are limited and reversible. Physical 
changes to the lighthouse structure include removing the exterior steel ladder from the northern 
side of its concrete pier, and building a wooden-framed room inside its concrete machinery 
room. Other changes that have been made to this lighthouse consist largely of replacing and 
updating its aid to navigation equipment and power system. This includes its optic and fog 
signal, along with the supporting machinery and power supply. The lighthouse's original optic 
was a fourth order Fresnel lens that had been installed in the pierhead lighthouse that preceded 
the Keweenaw Waterway Lower Entrance Light. That structure was removed after the 
Keweenaw Waterway Lower Entrance Light was built. The fourth order Fresnel lens was 
subsequently removed from this property's lantern circa 2010 and replaced with the exiting 
modern optic. 

The Keweenaw Waterway Lower Entrance Light's original fog signal was a 6-inch 
diameter air-powered siren. It was powered with compressed air provided by a pipe from an 
onshore power house. This fog signal was later removed and replaced with duophone horn fog 
signal. It, in turn, was replaced with a modern automated electric-powered fog signal mounted 
outside the light tower. 

This lighthouse was originally connected to an onshore power house that contained 
electrical generators and air compressors. Electrical cables and compressed air lines extended 
from the power house along the breakwater to the lighthouse. This power house was originally 
tended by keepers working for the U.S. Lighthouse Service. The lighthouse was eventually 
switched over to commercial power and was automated in the 1950s. The electrical power 
provided from shore was discontinued when the lighthouse's existing solarized power supply was 
installed. The existing power system uses batteries recharged using a solar array. 
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(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for National Register 

listing.) 

0 
D 
0 

D 

A. Property is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the 
broad patterns of our history. 

B. Property is associated with the lives of persons significant in our past. 

C. Property embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of 
construction or represents the work of a master, or possesses high artistic values, 
or represents a significant and distinguishable entity whose components lack 
individual distinction. 

D. Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information important in prehistory or 

history. 

Criteria Considerations 
(Mark "x" in all the boxes that apply.) 

D A. Owned by a religious institution or used for religious purposes 

D B. Removed from its original location 

D C. A birthplace or grave 

D D. A cemetery 

D E. A reconstructed building, object, or structure 

D F. A commemorative property 

D G. Less than 50 years old or achieving significance within the past 50 years 
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1920 
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Statement of Significance Summary Paragraph (Provide a summary paragraph that includes 

level of significance, applicable criteria, justification for the period of significance, and any 

applicable criteria considerations.) 

The Keweenaw Waterway Lower Entrance Light was established in 1920 to mark the 

southern entry to an important navigation channel in Houghton County, Michigan. It stands in 

Lake Superior's Keweenaw Bay at the offshore end of the breakwater sheltering the entrance to 

the Portage River, which is the southern part of the Keweenaw Waterway. This lighthouse is 

significant in the local history of Houghton County. Its period of historical significance begins 

in 1920 and ends in 1964, the more recent year of its operation 50 years before the present. The 

Keweenaw Waterway Lower Entrance Light qualifies for inclusion in the National Register 

under Criterion A. by exemplifying the long-term Federal government program to improve 

navigational safety in the Great Lakes through constructing aids to navigation along routes of 

maritime transportation. It also qualifies under Criterion C. for being a well-preserved example 

of early twentieth century architectural design and engineering methods used in constructing 

offshore lighthouses in the Great Lakes. It includes a wooden crib foundation, concrete pier, 

and a superstructure that combines reinforced concrete and steel components. This property 

retains integrity of design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, and association. It is widely 

recognized as an important historic landmark in Houghton County. 
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The Keweenaw Waterway Lower Entrance Light is significant in the local maritime and 

transportation history of Houghton County, Michigan. It is eligible for inclusion in the National 

Register of Historic Places (NRHP) under Criteria A. and C. Established in 1920, this property 

was built to mark the southern entry to the Keweenaw Waterway at the mouth of the Portage 

River. This waterway was an important navigation route for vessels operating on Lake Superior 

from the late nineteenth century to the middle twentieth century. The Keweenaw Waterway 

Lower Entrance Light's period of historical significance begins in 1920 and ends in 1964, the 

most recent year of its operation 50 years before the present. This lighthouse's character and 

appearance are largely unchanged from its period of significance. It continues to stand at its 

original location in a setting that remains the same as when it was constructed. The Keweenaw 

Waterway Lower Entrance Light possesses integrity in historical qualities of design, materials, 

workmanship, feeling and association. 

This property is historically significant in terms of Criterion A. for its association with 

the Federal government's program of establishing and maintaining an integrated system of 

maritime aids to navigation throughout the United States. It exemplifies how this important 

long-term, nationwide program was manifested in Houghton County. Today, the Keweenaw 

Waterway Lower Entrance Light is a prominent local landmark and continues its historical 

association with maritime safety by continuing to function as an operating lighthouse. It also 

conveys feelings that recall the dedication to duty characteristic of lighthouse keepers throughout 

the course of American history. 

The Keweenaw Waterway Lower Entrance Light is also significant under Criterion C. as 

a representative of early twentieth century lighthouse architecture and engineering. It 

exemplifies characteristics of design, construction methods, and materials used in building 

concrete and steel superstructure lighthouses atop wooden crib foundations during that time 

period. These developments proved to be well suited for offshore locations in the Great Lakes. 

This property's existing structural integrity attests to the lasting value of its design, as well as its 

high quality of materials and construction. The Keweenaw Waterway Lower Entrance Light 

retains substantial structural integrity. Changes that have been made are limited and reversible. 

This NRHP registration form is submitted as an individual listing under the overarching 

Light Stations of the United States multiple property documentation form (MPDF). The specific 

historic contexts that apply are Bureau of Lighthouses or the U.S. Lighthouse Service ( 1910-

1939) and Lighthouses under the U.S. Coast Guard (1939-present). The property type sections 

relating to this registration are U.S. Lighthouse Construction Type- Non-cast-iron Tower, and 

Foundation Type- Crib Foundation. Information and historic contexts available in the 

overarching MPDF are not repeated here. This submission emphasizes the historical significance 

of the Keweenaw Waterway Lower Entrance Light as an individual property. 
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This property's Great Lakes regional setting includes Lakes Superior, Michigan, Huron, 

Erie, and Ontario, along with their connecting waters and the St. Lawrence River. This is one of 

the largest concentrations of fresh water on earth. It encompasses a waterway system having a 

total shore length of approximately 11,000 statute miles and a total water surface area of about 

95,000 square miles. 

The Keweenaw Waterway Lower Entrance Light is located in Lake Superior's 

Keweenaw Bay, near the southeastern shore of the Keweenaw Peninsula in Michigan's Upper 

Peninsula (U.P.). It is situated at the offshore end of the breakwater that shelters the mouth of 

the Portage River at the Keweenaw Waterway's southern end. 

The Keweenaw Waterway includes the Portage River and Portage Lake, which were part 

of an important transportation route during prehistoric and early historic times. Native American 

groups discovered that waterborne travel along Lake Superior's southern shore could avoid a 

long and hazardous journey around the Keweenaw Peninsula's northern end by carrying their 

canoes and goods across a two-mile wide neck of land from one waterway to another. This 

overland portage place separated the peninsula's western Lake Superior shore from the head of 

the Portage Lake, which provided access to the peninsula's eastern shore by way of the Portage 

River. It was the origin of the area's Algonquian language name, keweenaw, which means a 

place where portage is made. 

Explorers and fur traders from French colonial Canada came to Lake Superior during the 

first quarter of the seventeenth century. Fur trading in the region continued to grow in economic 

importance through the early nineteenth century. Like the region's Native American inhabitants, 

the French Canadians relied on waterborne travel using canoes to transport goods. Their east­

west voyages along Lake Superior's southern shore brought them to the Portage River and Lake 

and the related crossing place. The French also gained knowledge of the Keweenaw region's 

deposits of pure native copper. An entrepreneur named De la Ronde attempted to exploit these 

copper resources between 1720 and 1740, but was unsuccessful. The French colonial presence 

in the upper Great Lakes included establishing Fort Michilimackinac on the northern tip of 

Michigan's Lower Peninsula at the Straits of Mackinac during the early eighteenth century. It 

soon became an important center for fur trading and other commerce. 

French Roman Catholic missionaries followed the early explorers and fur traders. Jesuit 

priests who traveled along Lake Superior's southern shore during the second half of the 

seventeenth century included Claude Allouez and Jacques Marquette. Father Marquette operated 

missions during the 1660s at Sault St. Marie near Lake Superior's eastern end, and La Pointe, 

located in western Lake Superior near present-day Ashland, Wisconsin. His travels between 

them included navigating the Portage River and Portage Lake and crossing the keweenaw. 
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Rivalry between France and Great Britain during the middle eighteenth century led to 

warfare in North America. A major development was British victory in the Seven Years' War 

which resulted in the loss of French control over Canada and the Great Lakes. British forces 

occupied Fort Michilimackinac at the Straits of Mackinac in 1761. Subsequent tensions between 

the British and the region's Native Americans led to the 1763 outbreak of Chief Pontiac's 

rebellion during which the fort was captured. The British regained control of the Upper Great 

Lakes a year later, after which fur trading and other colonial economic activity resumed. In 

1766, an English fur trader named Alexander Henry visited the Keweenaw Peninsula region and 

inspected a famous boulder of pure copper near the Ontonagon River. He later attempted to 

establish a copper mine nearby, but was unsuccessful. 

The 1783 Treaty of Paris that ended the American Revolutionary War established British 

recognition of United States sovereignty. It also included cession by Britain to the U.S. of a 

large portion of the upper Great Lakes region known as the Northwest Territory. This included 

the Upper and Lower Peninsulas of Michigan and other lands bordering Lake Superior, Lake 
Huron, and Lake Michigan. However, the U.S. Federal government did not finalize uncontested 

control over these parts of the Great Lakes until decades later. Even though the United States 

established the Michigan Territory in 1805, rivalry with Great Britain continued in the region 

until years after the War of 1812 was concluded with the 1814 Treaty of Ghent. Negotiations 

with the British over the Great Lakes border between the United States and Canada were finally 

concluded in 1818. 

Lewis Cass was appointed Governor of the Michigan Territory in 1813. In 1820, he 

undertook an expedition to explore Michigan's Upper Peninsula and lands farther west. Among 

the expedition's members was Henry Schoolcraft, a geologist and ethnologist. During this 

expedition, Cass and Schoolcraft passed through the Keweenaw area where information on the 

presence of pure copper was compiled and a visit made to the Ontonagon Boulder. 

Schoolcraft subsequently represented the United States during interactions with Native 

American tribes in the Great Lakes region. This included work, along with others, to secure 
ownership of lands for the Federal government through a series of treaties. The 1836 Treaty of 

Washington and 1842 Treaty of La Pointe involved the Chippewa (Ojibwe) and Ottawa tribes. 

These treaties resulted in transferring ownership of a vast area, including Michigan's Upper 
Peninsula (U.P.), to the Federal government. Following the admission of Michigan into the U.S. 

as a State, its first state geologist, Douglass Houghton, conducted investigations in the 

Keweenaw Peninsula. His work there from 1840 to 1841 confirmed the commercial potential of 

the area's copper resources. 
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As the Great Lakes 'region's vast lands were opened to settlement and development, 
economic and population growth increased. During the first half of the nineteenth century, most 
of this activity was distributed across the Lower Peninsula of Michigan and in Wisconsin, 
Illinois, Indiana, and Ohio. The 1840s discovery in Michigan's Upper Peninsula of the 
Marquette Range's rich iron ore deposits, and the beginning of copper mining in the Keweenaw 
Peninsula, began a sustained period of settlement expansion and economic development along 
the D.P.'s Lake Superior shore. During those times, the area's only reliable means for mass 
transport of people and goods from commercial centers to the south was aboard vessels 
navigating between Sault Sainte Marie and other Lake Superior ports. This maritime traffic 
expanded through time, especially after the St. Mary's Falls Ship Canal (the Soo Locks) opened 
at Sault Ste. Marie in 1855. It allowed vessels to navigate between Lake Huron and Lake 
Superior. 

The Great Lakes region was characterized by substantial growth in commerce and 
population from the second half of the nineteenth century to the middle twentieth century. The 
lumber industry accounted for a major part of the early development and expansion of 
waterborne commercial traffic. In addition, the large-scale development of iron ore production 
in Michigan's Upper Peninsula, northern Wisconsin, and Minnesota, as well as grain from farms 
and flour from mills in the Midwest and northern Great Plains, furnished cargoes carried aboard 
vessels bound for the lower Great Lakes. These shipments corresponded with the heavy up­
bound movement of coal and manufactured goods from ports in the lower lakes. 

By 1910, the amount of goods shipped annually on the Great Lakes increased to 80 
million tons. Most of this was bulk cargo such as iron ore and coal. Shipped freight tonnage 
reached a record of 217 million tons in 1948. The combined movement of lumber, grain, flour, 
iron ore and coal, together with limestone cargoes from the Lake Michigan area to centers of 
steel production, resulted in the greatest bulk freight marine commerce the world had ever seen. 
With the opening of the St. Lawrence Seaway in 1959, the industrial and agricultural heartland 
of North America became accessible to deep-draft oceangoing vessels navigating the Great 
Lakes. In addition, barge and small craft traffic reaches the Great Lakes from the Gulf of 
MexiCo via the Mississippi River and the Illinois Waterway, as well as from the Hudson River 
by way of the New York State Barge Canal System. 

The need for aids to navigation on the Great Lakes increased with the expansion of 
shipping associated with the growth of settlement and commerce. Seven lighthouses were built 
in the region between 1818 and 1822, and 32 were completed during the 1830s. From 1841 to 
1852, the U.S. Lighthouse Establishment added 33 new lights. Between 1852 and 1860, the total 
number of Great Lakes aids to navigation increased from 76 to 102. 
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A lighthouse was built in 1856 on the Keweenaw Peninsula's eastern shore 

approximately one mile east of the Portage River. Named the Portage River Light, it was 

situated there in order to be more visible to approaching vessels than it would have been at the 

river's mouth. It served as the principal Federal aid to navigation in the area from its initial 

establishment in 1856 until the Keweenaw Waterway Lower Entrance Light was established in 

1920. The original1856 lighthouse was demolished after a new lighthouse structure was 

constructed in 1869 and established as a Federal aid to navigation in 1870. The lighthouse's 

vicinity underwent significant development during the 1880s resulting from the opening of 

commercial quarries nearby and the founding of the village of Jacobsville. The village grew 

over time to include the lighthouse area. The Portage River Light was discontinued in 1920 and 

was later designated surplus property by the Federal government. Sold to a private owner in 

1958, it is known today as the Jacobsville Lighthouse and privately operated as a bed and 

breakfast. 

The U.S. Lighthouse Establishment operated a number of other lighted and unlighted 

Federal aids to navigation along the Portage River and Portage Lake during the late nineteenth 

century. These improvements were often coordinated with channel dredging projects and the 

construction of navigation structures. One such structure was a breakwater built during the late 

1860s on the eastern side of the Portage River in order to shelter its mouth from rough waters on 

Keweenaw Bay. The Portage Entry Light was established in 1868 to mark this breakwater's 

offshore end. The number of Federal aids to navigation elsewhere in the Great Lakes also 

increased during the late nineteenth century. By the beginning of the twentieth century, there 

were 334 major lighted aids, 67 fog signals, and 563 buoys in the region. 

Several distinct designs or types of lighthouses were constructed in the Great Lakes 

during the nineteenth century. Unti11810 or so, the most common design consisted of a wood, 

stone, or brick keeper's dwelling that exhibited the lighthouse's optic in a lantern on the roof or 

atop an attached square tower. Taller masonry towers connected to a keeper's dwelling by an 

enclosed passageway also became popular by the 1870s. From 1870 to around 1910, lighthouse 

engineers also practiced and perfected the construction of light stations built on isolated islands 

and atop submerged reefs and shoals. 

Wooden crib foundations were widely used for the construction of lighthouses on 

submerged lands in the Great Lakes from the middle nineteenth century through the middle 

twentieth century. This method was employed for lights built on piers that extended from land 

into nearby waters, as well as for offshore lights. It involved constructing the crib (a massive 

wooden box) onshore using heavy timbers. Each was tall enough to reach to, or near to, the 

water's surface at its designated offshore location. A crib included several open-top 

compartments. When completed, it was towed to its designated location and sunk using ballast. 

Additional ballast and concrete were added to stabilize and strengthen the crib structure for 

serving as a foundation. 
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The superstructures of lighthouses built on piers in the Great Lakes also went through an 

evolution in design and technology. The earlier ones were built of wood, but this material 

deteriorated over time. Cast iron came into widespread use for building U.S. lighthouses during 

the middle nineteenth century. Cast iron lighthouse structures were commonly built from parts 

manufactured to specification at a foundry and sent to the designated site as a prefabricated kit 

for onsite assembly. Steel products for building lighthouse structures became available in the 

U.S. during the late nineteenth century. As the output of mass production mills increased 

through time, steel's cost as a building material declined. By the 1920s, the cost versus benefit 

ratio for building a structure using steel instead of cast iron led to its adoption as the preferred 

material for constructing both pier and offshore lighthouses in the Great Lakes. 

History of the Keweenaw Waterway Lower Entrance Light 

The history of the Keweenaw Waterway Lower Entrance Light is closely related to late 

nineteenth century and early twentieth century navigation improvements in the Portage River and 

Portage Lake. They became important to Lake Superior commercial shipping following the 

1841 publication of Douglass Houghton's report on the Keweenaw Peninsula region's copper 

resources, and the 1842 Treaty of La Pointe which transferred ownership of Michigan's western 

Upper Peninsula to the Federal government. A rush to claim and develop copper mining sites in 

the Keweenaw area occurred from 1843 to 1845. This was followed by economic and 

population growth through time as the mining industry matured and expanded. 

The Houghton County towns of Houghton and Hancock along the shores of upper 

Portage Lake were initially settled during the 1850s. However, maritime access to them from 

Lake Superior was restricted due to the Portage River's meandering channel and shallow waters. 

The Portage Lake and River Improvement Company was founded by local businessmen in 1860 

to dredge straight cuts across river meanders in order to open a shipping channel from the 

Portage River mouth to Portage Lake. Another project the company undertook was to excavate a 

canal across the two-mile-wide neck of land separating the Keweenaw Peninsula's western shore 

from upper Portage Lake. This canal was completed in the early 1870s, thus opening a 25-mile 

long waterway that allowed maritime traffic to navigate from one side of the Keweenaw 
Peninsula to the other. This part and other segments of the Keweenaw Waterway were 

deepened, widened, and otherwise improved over subsequent decades. The Keweenaw 

Waterway provided a shorter route, stopover for fuel, and shelter from inclement weather. It 

soon became an important corridor for Lake Superior shipping. 
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The U.S. Lighthouse Establishment constructed a number of navigational aids along the 

Keweenaw Waterway from the 1860s onward. Among the first of these was a pair of onshore 

range lights erected in 1868 at the Portage River mouth. They marked the alignment of the 
dredged channel for vessels to enter. The rear range light was atop a dwelling built for the 

lighthouse keeper. By the early twentieth century, Federal aids to navigation at the Keweenaw 

Waterway included the Portage River Light, four other individual lighthouses, 21 range lights, 

and a number of buoys. These guided vessels from one end of the waterway to the other. 

The U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) became substantially involved in 
improving navigation in the area after the Federal government purchased the Keweenaw 

Waterway in August 1891. This included widening and deepening the Portage River entrance 

channel and improving the breakwater on its eastern side. By 1898, the Portage River's entrance 

channel had been extended farther into Lake Superior's Keweenaw Bay and deepened to 16 feet. 

Navigation structures built along the waterway by the USACE included the Portage River 

breakwater and a western pier extending offshore from an islet inside the river mouth. Both 
structures were connected at their northern end with bulkheads extending several hundred feet 

upriver along the adjoining river bank. The western pier was removed in the 1930s in 

conjunction with dredging at the Portage River's mouth. The Portage River breakwater was 

extended farther into the waters of Keweenaw Bay during the early twentieth century. Its 

existing length is approximately 2,560 feet. Other improvements made over time include a 

concrete deck and riprap along the sides. 

In 1902, the U.S. Lighthouse Establishment built the Portage River Pierhead Light at the 

breakwater's offshore end. Twenty-seven feet tall and constructed of wood, its equipment 

included a minor lens lantern and remotely operated fog bell. This lighthouse proved to be 
inadequate and it was replaced in 1911. The new Portage River Pierhead Light was a two-story 

rectangular iron skeletal tower that supporting an enclosed service room topped with a lantern. 

This lighthouse was equipped with a fourth order Fresnel lens displaying a fixed red light, as 

well as a mechanically operated fog bell. The river mouth's western pier was marked at that 

time with a pair of fixed white range lights. By 1917, the eastern breakwater light's 
characteristic had been changed to flashing white and an aligned rear range light had been 
established onshore that displayed a fixed red signal. The pierhead light and rear range light 

marked a range showing approaching vessels the alignment of the Keweenaw Waterway's lower 

entrance channel. These entrance channel lights were maintained by a keeper who occupied a 

dwelling located onshore near the eastern breakwater's northern end. This dwelling was later 

removed. 
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The U.S. Lighthouse Establishment and its administrative parent, the Lighthouse Board, 
were abolished by Congress in 1910, and reorganized as the U_S. Bureau of Lighthouses. This 
included transferring the Federal lighthouse program from the Department of the Treasury to the 
Department of Commerce where it remained until 1939 when the Bureau of Lighthouses was 
merged with the U.S. Coast Guard, then part of the Department of the Treasury. 

The Bureau of Lighthouses undertook a project in 1917 to install electric lights along the 
Keweenaw Waterway and construct a new and taller lighthouse to replace the Portage River 
Pierhead Light. The proposed structure was designed to include a timber crib foundation, 
concrete pier and equipment room, and a steel tower topped with the lighthouse's lantern. 
Construction of this new lighthouse began in 1919 and was completed the following year. It was 
officially established as the Keweenaw Waterway Lower Entrance Light on 1 August 1920. The 
fourth order Fresnel lens that had been installed previously in the 1911 Pierhead Light was 
transferred to the new lighthouse, and lighted with an electric lamp. The Keweenaw Waterway 
Lower Entrance Light was also equipped with a 6-inch siren fog signal operated remotely from 
shore using compressed air stored in tanks in the lighthouse's equipment room. A keepers 
dwelling and power house were built near the breakwater's onshore end in conjunction with the 
new lighthouse's construction. The power house supplied electricity and compressed air for the 
lighthouse's aids to navigation. These were supplied by cable and pipe extending along the 
breakwater. The power house also supplied electricity to the waterway light system installed 
contemporaneously with the lighthouse's construction. The lighthouse's original siren fog signal 
was later replaced with a duophone system. 

The Portage River Pierhead Light and its partner rear range light became superfluous 
when the Keweenaw Waterway Lower Entrance Light was established_ They were discontinued 
and removed. The Portage River Light located in Jacobsville was also discontinued at this time_ 

The Keweenaw Waterway Lower Entrance Light was operated by U.S. Lighthouse 
Service keepers from 1920 to 1939 and thereafter by U.S. Coast Guard personnel until it was 
automated during the 1950s. The lighthouse's original daymark coloration of a white tower atop 
an unpainted concrete pier remains unchanged to the present day. The lighthouse's original 
fourth order Fresnel lens was removed circa 2010. The existing optic is a modern automated 
SABIK LED-350 optic. The power cable extending along the breakwater has been disconnected 
and the lighthouse is currently powered by batteries recharged using a solar array mounted on the 
lantern gallery. The duophone fog signal equipment has also been removed. The lighthouse's 
existing fog signal is electrically-powered using batteries and operates when activated by keying 
on a designated VHF marine radio channel. 
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The Keweenaw Waterway provided maritime access to the area's copper industry, and a 

fueling stopover and harbor of refuge for vessels navigating Lake Superior, from the late 

nineteenth century through the middle twentieth century. During the second half of the 

twentieth, however, its importance to commercial shipping declined. The last operating copper 

mine in the Keweenaw closed in the 1960s, and advancements in vessel design and constmction 

including greater size and draught meant that using the waterway became unnecessary and 

impracticable for modern ships. At the present time, the Keweenaw Waterway is navigated 

mostly by recreational and excursion watercraft, along with the U.S. National Park Service 

vessel Ranger III which operates between Houghton and Isle Royal National Park. U.S. Coast 

Guard boats based at Station ANT (Aids to Navigation Team) Portage at Dollar Bay on Portage 

Lake also use the waterway, as well as other USCG vessels. 

Today, the Keweenaw Waterway Lower Entrance Light continues to operate as a U.S. 

Coast Guard aid to navigation and is widely recognized as a prominent historic landmark in 

Houghton County. It serves as a lasting reminder of the role that the Keweenaw Waterway has 

played in Great Lakes maritime commerce. This property continues to occupy its original 

location at the offshore end of the Portage River breakwater in a setting that remains essentially 

unchanged from its 1920 to 1964 period of historical significance. In addition, it retains 

substantial integrity in the qualities of design, materials, and workmanship. The continuing 

preservation of these aspects reflects their high quality and appropriateness for the property's 

designated purpose. As an operating lighthouse, the Keweenaw Waterway Lower Entrance 

Light maintains its association with the Federal government's long-term program for promoting 

maritime safety on the Great Lakes and evokes feelings that recall the dedication to duty 

characteristic of lighthouse keepers throughout the course of United States history. This property 

also illustrates the spirit of innovation that characterized American lighthouse engineers during 

the early twentieth century. Their focus on lasting results has characterized generations of U.S. 
lighthouse builders. · 
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10. Geographical Data 

Acreage of Property Less than one acre. 

Use either the UTM system or latitude/longitude coordinates 

Latitude/Longitude Coordinates 
Datum if other than WGS84: ___ _ 
(enter coordinates to 6 decimal places) 

1. Latitude: Longitude: 

Or 
UTM References 
Datum (indicated on USGS map): 

0NAD 1927 or 

1. Zone: 16 

D NAD 1983 

Basting: 391140 Northing: 5202480 

Verbal Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries of the property.) 

The property's boundary is the perimeter of the timber crib which is the structure's 
foundation. 

Boundary Justification (Explain why the boundaries were selected.) 

This boundary encompasses the entirety of the Keweenaw Waterway Lower Entrance Light. 

11. Form Prepared By 
name/title: Daniel Koski-Karell, Ph.D . 

. organization: Office of Environmental Management (COMDT CG-47), USCG Headquarters 
street & number: US Coast Guard Stop 7714, 2703 Martin Luther King Jr Avenue SE 
city or town: Washington state: DC zip code: 20593-7714 
e-mail Daniel.AKoski-KareJl@uscg.mil 
telephone: 202-475-5683 
date: 23 January 2014 

23 



United States Department of the Interior 
National Park Service I National Register of Historic Places Registration Form 
NPS Form 10-900 OMB No. 1024-0018 

Keweenaw Waterway Lower Entrance Light 
Name of Property 

Additional Documentation 

Houghton County, Ml 
County and State 

• Map: Figure 1. USGS map (7.5 minute series) indicating the property's location. 

• Photographs: 

Historic Photographs (Figure 2. and Figure 3.) 
1. 1920 view of the Keweenaw Waterway Lower Entrance Light under construction and 

the 1911 Portage River Pierhead Light, camera facing southeast. 
2. 1935 view of Keweenaw Waterway Lower Entrance Light showing fog signal horn at base of 

the light tower, camera facing northeast. 

Contemporary Photographs(# 1 to# 6) 
N arne of Property: 
City or Vicinity: 
County: 
State: 
Name of Photographer: 
Date of Photographs: 
Location of Original Digital Files: 

Number of Photographs: 

Photo# 1. 

Keweenaw Waterway Lower Entrance Light 
Torch Lake Township 
Houghton County 
MI 
Leigh Cutler 
September 2006 
U.S. Coast Guard Historian's Office, U.S. Coast Guard 
Headquarters, 2703 Martin Luther King Jr. Ave. SE, 
Washington, DC 20593 
6 

Northern elevation, camera facing south. 

Photo# 2. 
First story exterior, northwest corner detail, camera facing south. 

Photo# 3. 
Light tower exterior, third and fourth story, camera facing southwest. 

Photo# 4. 
Lantern gallery exterior, guardrail and view of breakwater, camera facing north. 

Photo# 5. 
First story interior, stairway to second story, camera facing east. 

Photo# 6. 
Light tower interior, fourth story, curving ladder leading to lantern, camera facing southeast. 
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Figure 1. Location Map. This is a portion of the "Portag-e Entry, Michigan" 7.5 minute 
quadrangle topographic map, scale 1:24,000 (United States Geological Survey 1984). 
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Figure 2. Historic Photograph. This 1920 photo shows the Keweenaw Waterway Lower 

Entrance Light under construction and the1911 Portage River Pierhead Light, camera facing 

southeast. Photographer: Unknown. Location of original photo: Record Group 26, National 

Archives and Records Administration. 
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Figure 3. Historic Photograph. This 1935 photo shows the fog signal horn pointed eastward at 
the base of the light tower, camera facing northeast. Photographer: F.C. Hingsburg. Location of 
original photo: Record Group 26, National Archives and Records Administration. 
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